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CREATING VALUE
At Theratechnologies, we continue to place emphasis on creating value 
for our shareholders. Over the last year, we have met our corporate goals 
and announced positive Phase 3 results for our lead drug candidate, 
tesamorelin, in HIV-associated lipodystrophy. We are continuing  
the development program in 2008 for tesamorelin by advancing our  
pre-commercialization efforts to prepare the market for the eventual  
launch of tesamorelin. Our top priority in 2008 is the submission  
of a New Drug Application to the US Food and Drug Administration 
by year end. In addition, although the existing business plan is sound, 
Theratechnologies is currently evaluating all its strategic alternatives  
to further enhance shareholder value.

FoRwARd-LookING INFoRmATIoN
This annual report contains certain statements that are considered 
“forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities  
legislation. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these 
statements as a number of important factors could cause our actual 
results to differ materially from the expectations expressed in such 
forward-looking statements. Additional information about these factors 
can be found on pages 27 and 28 of this annual report. The Company 
also refers potential investors to the “Risks and Uncertainties” section of 
its Annual Information Form (the “AIF”) dated January 29, 2008. The AIF 
is available at www.sedar.com under the Company’s public filings.
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theratechnologies 
(tsX:th)
theratechnologies is a canadian biopharmaceutical company that 
discovers innovative drug candidates in order to develop them and 
bring them to market. the company targets unmet medical needs  
in financially attractive specialty markets. its most advanced program  
is tesamorelin (th9507), now in a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial  
for a serious metabolic disorder known as hiV-associated lipodystrophy.  
the company also has other projects at earlier stages of development.

Financial summary

 (For the years ended november 30, in thousands of canadian dollars)  2007  2006   2005
 r&D expenditures $ 31,866 $ 22,049 $ 14,987 
 liquidities*  $ 61,786 $ 37,591  $ 40,004
 Burn rate**   $ 34,698 $ 23,917 $ 17,781***

 * includes cash, bonds and tax credits receivable.

 ** represented by cash flows from operating activities and excluding changes in operating assets and liabilities.

 *** excluding revenue from transaction with alZa corporation.
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positive results
Disclosed positive clinical  
results at various conferences  
and published in the New  
England Journal of Medicine

Financing
completed $58M in financing 
in February 2007 and a $30M 
financing in February 2008

new drug application 
complete clinical program  
for tesamorelin and submit  
new Drug application in  
hiV-associated lipodystrophy

highlights

Milestones

appointments
appointed Paul Pommier  
as chairman of the Board  
of Directors and Pierre caudrelier  
as chief Medical officer

conFirmatory trial 
completed recruitment  
for confirmatory Phase 3 trial  
ahead of schedule

business plan 
executed business plan  
as expected

patent 
received a patent extending the 
use of tesamorelin by eight years  
in hiV-associated lipodystrophy

out-licencing 
out-licenced glP-1 program

pre-commercialization 
continue pre-commercialization 
efforts for tesamorelin in  
hiV-associated lipodystrophy

strategic alternatives 
complete review of strategic 
alternatives by the Board  
of Directors

http://www.theratech.com/en/theratechnologies/company-board.php
http://www.theratech.com/en/theratechnologies/management.php
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=292
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=306
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=294
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=279
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=309
http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/short/357/23/2359
http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/short/357/23/2359
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Dear shareholders,

the positive clinical results that we amassed over the year have 
provided us with additional strategic options in 2008. over the  
past year, we have entered into partnership discussions for our 
tesamorelin program and, in early 2008, to complement these  
efforts, we announced that the Board of Directors had initiated  
a review of the strategic alternatives for the company. the review  
of these strategic options has no impact on our operational goals 
to develop the tesamorelin program and to submit a new Drug 
application (nDa) to the Us Food and Drug administration (FDa)  
by year end. the theratechnologies team will keep focusing on these 
goals and will continue to execute the business as planned. Both 
financings over the year provide us not only with the ability to fund  
our operations for the next two years but also allow us more flexibility 
for all options. 

notwithstanding the challenging biotechnology markets, investor 
interest regarding theratechnologies continued to be high as we 
increased our profile particularly in the Us. in addition, we gained 
research coverage from two analysts, one from canada and the other 
from the Us for a total of ten analysts, which also includes coverage  
in europe. 

the momentum in the clinic continued as we elaborated further on the 
positive 26-week data that we disclosed in late 2006 and, in october 
2007, we disclosed the long-term safety profile of tesamorelin at  
52 weeks. Most importantly, the data from the 26-week part of the 
study were published in the New England Journal of Medicine, one  
of the most prestigious medical journals in the Us. as a brief summary,  
at both 26 and 52 weeks, the clinical results were encouraging with 
tesamorelin showing positive clinical benefits and being well tolerated. 
essentially, all our data from these trials point in the right direction 
for regulatory approval in the Us. Moreover, patients reported an 
improved quality of life which is important as patients may alter their  
adherence to their antiretroviral regimes to compensate for the reduced  
quality of life caused by lipodystrophy and this may compromise their 
overall treatment.

now we see ourselves as a leader  
in Hiv-associated lipodystropHy
We believe we are now a leader in the field of hiV-associated 
lipodystrophy, where currently there is no approved medication available 
to treat patients with this condition. hiV-associated lipodystrophy is 
characterized by a change in the distribution of fat tissue, abnormal 
blood lipid levels, and glucose intolerance that could lead eventually  
to diabetes and increase cardiovascular risks. to date, our clinical results  
show that tesamorelin has improved fat distribution and blood lipid 
levels, all without affecting glucose intolerance. in addition, the side- 
effects of tesamorelin were minimal when evaluated over a one year  
period which is very promising. these attributes contribute to a compelling 
profile to use tesamorelin to treat hiV-associated lipodystrophy. 

tHe submission oF tHe nda  
to tHe Fda is a top priority 
theratechnologies expects to submit its nDa by the end of 2008. 
We see this as a very exciting juncture for theratechnologies as only 
a very small number of canadian biotechnology companies have had 
the opportunity to attain such a late stage in the drug development 
process on their own. our preparations include building various internal  
cross-functional teams as well as retaining external american consultants  
to assist us in the assembly of our nDa. 

Message  
to shareholDers

http://www.fda.gov/
http://www.theratech.com/en/investor-relations/analysts.php
http://www.fda.gov/cder/regulatory/applications/nda.htm
http://www.fda.gov/cder/regulatory/applications/nda.htm
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=297
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=297
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commercialization plan advancing
our leadership position in hiV-associated lipodystrophy has now put 
theratechnologies in a pre-commercialization mode. We have a core 
team in place with commercialization experience which is now focused 
on educating the market about the disease and the significant impact 
that hiV-associated lipodystrophy has on those patients that are 
afflicted with it. hiV-associated lipodystrophy is a fairly new disease, 
with the first incidence being reported in 19981. since that time, 
the awareness of the disease has increased and more is becoming 
known about the impact of the disease not only in terms of body fat 
accumulation but also the serious corresponding metabolic disorders 
that may increase the cardiovascular risks to these patients. 

in 2007, we performed several market research studies conducted 
by reputable third parties to update our market numbers for hiV-
associated lipodystrophy as well as to gain some clarity on the 
reimbursement process for a product such as tesamorelin. it is clear 
from our studies that there is a sizable market for hiV-associated 
lipodystrophy. one of the key messages that came from these studies 
is that education is going to be critical in a successful market launch  
of tesamorelin. another key message was that the reimbursement 
process for tesamorelin will be typical of an hiV drug, likely requiring 
prior authorization. i would like to emphasize that this is customary  
for any hiV drug. What is critical is to continue to refine our 
reimbursement strategy with key experts as the hiV-associated 
lipodystrophy market is rapidly changing. 

1  carr a. et al. aiDs 1998, 12: F51-F58

2008: a year oF evolution
as theratechnologies has matured towards commercialization over  
the past few years, our team has changed significantly as well. We 
expanded the theratechnologies team to 81 employees in 2007 with 
most of the expansion recently occurring in regulatory, clinic, and  
marketing areas. together, the theratechnologies team has been  
the critical impetus to meet our corporate objectives and ultimately 
to move the company closer to the market launch of tesamorelin. 
their outstanding effort, dedication and collaboration deserve sincere 
recognition for the success of the company thus far.

in parallel to the activities initiated by the Board of Directors regarding 
theratechnologies’ strategic review, operationally in 2008 we will not 
sit on our laurels. our focus is to work on completing our confirmatory 
Phase 3 clinical trial and to assemble the voluminous documentation 
required for the submission of the nDa to the FDa by the end of the 
year. this is the single most important priority of the company in 2008. 
in addition, we are working diligently to continue the development 
efforts for tesamorelin, which include educating the marketplace 
regarding the serious impact that  hiV-associated lipodystrophy has 
on those individuals who live with this disease. 

i envision 2008 to be another exciting year for theratechnologies  
and look forward to it with anticipation. 

           
Yves Rosconi 
President and chief executive officer 
February 13, 2008

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=305&year=2007
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=305&year=2007
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Dear shareholders,

on behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to report on 
another very exciting year for theratechnologies and its shareholders. 
Details of the many achievements appear elsewhere in this report and 
i will not repeat them here. What ultimately counts for shareholders was 
that the financial markets began to take notice of these achievements 
in 2007 and that theratechnologies’ market value increased 
substantially in the first six months of the year.

it was within this very favorable context that the Board of Directors 
met for its regular quarterly meeting last July. While we were obviously 
pleased with the company’s first-half performance, the directors were 
also conscious that shareholder value creation going forward would  
be increasingly tied to the successful commercialization of tesamorelin. 
i should stress that the Board had no particular reason to doubt our  
current strategy of retaining the commercial rights to our flagship 
product although it must be said that some of our major shareholders 
have, from time to time, expressed concerns about the risks associated  
with going at it alone. Furthermore, given the significant progress made  
and the resulting dramatic improvement in the company’s circumstances,  
we felt it was a good time to revisit the corporate strategy. subsequently, 
with this in mind, a special committee of four outside directors, myself 
included, was created. our mandate was to consider all strategic 
options available — from the status quo to a possible sale of the company, 
and everything in between — and report back to the full Board with 
specific recommendations. the Board also authorized the committee  
to employ the services of outside industry experts as appropriate. 

the independent committee met regularly over the subsequent six 
months and presented its recommendations to the Board in January 
of this year. our overall conclusion was that the approach of retaining 
tesamorelin’s commercial rights continues to offer very attractive potential 
returns for shareholders. however, we also became convinced that  
if favorable terms could be obtained, other approaches should also  
be considered. this gave rise to the Board’s recently announced  
decision to appoint a team of canadian and Us financial advisors  
to help us explore the various strategic alternatives available to the  
company. While the principal objective of the strategic review is to  
maximize the value of tesamorelin for shareholders, the best interests  
of theratechnologies’ employees and other stakeholders will also be 
taken into account. the review is currently underway and will likely  
take several months to complete. once completed, we will share  
our findings with shareholders.

even as we take some time to reconsider our future direction, there can 
be no denying that the achievements of theratechnologies over the past 
few years speak eloquently to the quality of leadership that we have 
in place throughout the organization. in executing any business plan, 
there are always unexpected challenges that give leaders an opportunity 
to shine. this past year was no exception and our team shone as never 
before. on behalf of the Board, and all other shareholders, i take this 
opportunity to acknowledge Yves rosconi’s strong leadership, as well 
as the valued contribution of each and every member of the team in 
making theratechnologies the success it is today.

Paul Pommier 
chairman of the Board 
February 13, 2008

chairMan’s 
 letter
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BoarD oF  
Directors

Paul Pommier spent over 25 years at national Bank Financial, 
ultimately as senior executive Vice President, corporate and 
government Finance. throughout his career, he oversaw public  
and private financings, mergers and acquisitions, as well as the 
marketing of investment offerings. retired since 1997, Mr. Pommier  
was appointed chairman of the Board of theratechnologies in 2007.  
Dr. Gilles Cloutier has over 30 years of experience in clinical research 
with contract research organizations and pharmaceutical companies. 
his experience includes the development and approval of several  
drugs in canada, the Us and europe. A. Jean de Grandpré contributed 
to Bell canada’s exceptional growth as chairman of the Board and 
chief executive officer and went on to become the founding chairman  
of the Board and ceo of Bce. Mr. de grandpré was appointed 
chairman of the Board of theratechnologies in 1996, a position in 
which he served for more than 13 years. Dr. Robert G. Goyer has over  
40 years of experience in the pharmaceutical field. recognized for his 
broad expertise in drug development, Dr. goyer has served on the 
boards of several companies and governmental organizations, such  
as health canada’s therapeutic Products Directorate, the Régie  
de l’assurance maladie du Québec and the Conseil du médicament  
du Québec. Gérald A. Lacoste is a lawyer with extensive experience  
in the fields of securities regulation, financing and corporate governance.  
he was previously chairman of the Quebec securities commission  
and was also President and ceo of the Montreal stock exchange.  
Mr. lacoste is a member of the north american Free trade agreement 
arbitration panel. Bernard Reculeau brings over 20 years of 
pharmaceutical industry experience to theratechnologies. Mr. reculeau  
has extensive hands-on management experience in commercial 
activities and pharmaceutical operations, notably in France where  
he successfully ran the pharmaceutical operations for rhône-Poulenc  
and rhône-Poulenc rorer. Yves Rosconi brings over 25 years  
of global pharmaceutical experience to theratechnologies. Before 
joining the company, Mr. rosconi was senior Vice President, 
responsible for africa and the Middle east at Paris-based aventis.  
Prior to that, Mr. rosconi was President and general Manager of 
canadian operations at rhône-Poulenc rorer. Jean-Denis Talon had  
a successful career with aXa insurance over a period of more than  
20 years, ultimately becoming President and chief executive officer.  
Mr. talon is also former President of the Financial affairs committee  
of the insurance Bureau of canada and a director of various companies. 
Luc Tanguay joined theratechnologies’ management team in 1996, 
contributing to the company’s growth by facilitating access to public 
and private capital funding. Prior to joining theratechnologies, Mr. tanguay 
had a successful career in investment banking at national Bank Financial.

Bernard Reculeau
chairman of the Board,  
cis Bio international

 Jean-Denis Talon
chairman of the Board,  
aXa canada

Gilles Cloutier, Ph.D. 
corporate Director

 Yves Rosconi 
L. Pharm, MBA
President and  
chief executive officer

Luc Tanguay, M.Sc., CFA 
senior executive Vice President  
 and chief Financial officer 

Gérald A. Lacoste, Q.C.  
corporate Director

Robert G. Goyer, Ph.D.
emeritus professor,  
Faculty of pharmacy of  
Université de Montréal 

 A. Jean de Grandpré 
C.C., Q.C.
corporate Director

Paul Pommier, MBA 
chairman of the Board
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Hiv-associated lipodystropHy
hiV-associated lipodystrophy is a metabolic disorder that afflicts a significant percentage of hiV patients undergoing antiretroviral treatment. 
although the exact cause of this syndrome is unknown, it is suspected to be exacerbated by the hiV treatment itself. it is characterized by changes  
in distribution of adipose tissue (fat-containing tissue), dyslipidemia and glucose intolerance. 

the changes in fat distribution include: lipoatrophy, which is the loss of subcutaneous fat tissue, generally in the limbs and facial area, and 
lipohypertrophy, which is the accumulation of adipose tissue, mainly visceral fat accumulation but also in other regions such as the neck region  
(buffalo hump) and in the chest area. lipohypertrophy is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes. in addition to the direct 
health risks, the resulting body abnormalities can stigmatize patients and discourage compliance with their hiV treatments. there is currently 
no approved treatment for this condition and although certain new hiV treatments tend to minimize the dyslipidemia and the lipoatrophy 
components, the lipohypertrophy component remains an important unmet medical need.

 What is hiV-associateD
liPoDYstroPhY?

market
it is currently estimated that among the 2 million hiV-positive patients in north america and europe, approximately 280,000 suffer from  
hiV-associated lipodystrophy with excess visceral fat. By 2012, the company estimates that approximately 380,000 patients treated with  
antiretrovirals will have lipohypertrophy in north america and europe and that the potential total market size for this condition will be  
between Us$811 million to $1.3 billion. 

 
 650,000 hiV patients 
 undiagnosed 
  1,650,000 patients  

diagnosed

 
 Patients untreated
  1,060,000 patients  

are treated (74%)

 
  Patients without  

lipodistrophy syndrome 
  380,228 patients with  

lipodystrophy syndrome  
(36%) 

projected lipodystropHy market in 2012

HIV Patients in 2012 HIV Patients Diagnosed  
in 2012

HIV Patients Diagnosed  
and Treated in 2012

Key factors in market 
adoption of any new drug  
in a new market

•	 safety 
•	 efficacy 
•	 Medical need 
•	 commercial strategies
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strong progress  
in tesamorelin program
significant advances were made in theratechnologies’ tesamorelin 
program in hiV-associated lipodystrophy over the past year. We began  
the calendar year with two parallel Phase 3 clinical trials. By the end  
of the year, we had completed the first Phase 3 trial and had completed  
recruitment in the confirmatory trial. the confirmatory trial recruited 
faster than the first trial, suggesting a strong interest among patients 
for a compound such as tesamorelin. 

the results from our studies were positive. in october 2007, the 
company announced positive 52-week results for its first Phase 3 
clinical trial, evaluating the long-term safety profile of tesamorelin  
in patients with hiV-associated lipodystrophy. the 52-week results 
were consistent with the safety profile of the 26-week results disclosed 
in December 2006 and showed that tesamorelin was well tolerated. 
tesamorelin’s efficacy was also confirmed as patients on treatment  
for 52-weeks lost 18% of their visceral adipose tissue (Vat) compared 
to baseline. twenty-six week results for the confirmatory trial are 
anticipated in 2008. Furthermore, the 26-week data from our first 
Phase 3 study were published in the New England Journal of Medicine, 
a prestigious top-tier medical journal. 

in parallel with the ongoing clinical studies, theratechnologies is 
preparing to submit a nDa to the FDa by the end of 2008. this is 
top-priority this year as it is one of the final steps to gaining marketing 
approval in the Us.

percentage vat cHange

5

0

-5

-10

-15

-20

0 to 26 weeks 26 to 52 weeks

Tesamorelin Tesamorelin
Tesamorelin Placebo
Placebo Tesamorelin

Week 26 Week 39 Week 52

commercialization plan advancing 
Preparatory work for the eventual commercialization of tesamorelin is 
underway and will intensify in 2008. this work includes negotiations 
with potential suppliers and commercial partners to assist us with the 
commercialization process. education is also a critical aspect of our 
commercialization plan. as hiV-associated lipodystrophy is a relatively 
new disease, one of the areas our team will focus on will be educating 
the marketplace about the disease and the serious impact it has on 
those patients diagnosed with hiV-associated lipodystrophy.

patient witH Hiv-associated lipodystropHy

A   normal subject
B   hiV patient with lipodystrophy
C   hiV patient with lipodystrophy  

after 26 weeks of treatment  
with tesamorelin

A

B C

visceral adipose tissue (blue areas)
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The following discussion and analysis provides management’s point of view on the financial position and the results of operations of 
Theratechnologies Inc. (“Theratechnologies” or the “Company”), on a consolidated basis for the twelve-month periods ended November 30, 2007  
(“2007”) and November 30, 2006 (“2006”). This information is dated February 13, 2008 and should be read in conjunction with the Audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes, which have been prepared by management in conformity with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. Unless otherwise specified, the amounts are in Canadian dollars. 

Overview 
Theratechnologies is a Canadian biopharmaceutical company that discovers or acquires innovative drug candidates in order to develop them 
and bring them to market. The Company targets unmet medical needs in financially attractive specialty markets. Its most advanced program is 
tesamorelin, which is now in a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial in HIV-associated lipodystrophy, a serious metabolic disorder. The Company 
also has other projects at earlier stages of development. 

Throughout 2007, the Company’s activities centered on the continued Phase 3 development program for tesamorelin in HIV-associated 
lipodystrophy. Positive top-line, 26-week, efficacy and safety results for the first of two Phase 3 clinical studies were announced in December 2006 
and the confirmatory Phase 3 study was launched in January 2007. The recruitment phase of the confirmatory study proceeded well and was 
completed in September 2007. The latest study is being carried out with approximately 400 patients in North America and Europe and is intended 
to confirm the results of the first Phase 3 study. Top-line, 26-week data from the confirmatory study should be available in the second quarter 
of 2008. Another important aspect of the clinical program in 2007 was the release of further positive data from the first Phase 3 study. These 
additional data, which provided more detail on the efficacy and long-term (52-week) safety of tesamorelin, were disclosed at important scientific 
conferences over the course of the year.

On the regulatory front, Theratechnologies was very active in 2007, securing approvals in various jurisdictions for its clinical trials. In the United States, 
reassuring comments were received from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in September 2007 about the Company’s tesamorelin 
Phase 3 program. The regulatory staff is now preparing a New Drug Application (NDA) aimed at an approval to market tesamorelin in the  
United States. The goal is to complete the NDA submission by the end of 2008.

In accordance with the Company’s plan, preparatory work for the eventual commercialization of tesamorelin is underway and will intensify in 2008. 
This work includes negotiations with potential suppliers and commercial partners.

The activities aimed at diversifying and enriching the Company’s longer-term product pipeline are ongoing and will continue in 2008. With respect 
to new products, the principal in-house projects are the evaluation of possible additional indications for tesamorelin and of the Company’s early-stage  
program in acute renal failure. The Company’s Glucagon-like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) program, which was suspended in 2005 for strategic reasons, 
was out-licensed in 2007 in consideration for stock options in the licensee and future milestone payments.

mANAGEmENT’S DISCUSSION  
 AND ANALySIS

http://www.theratech.com/
http://www.theratech.com/en/products-therapeutic-peptides/lipodystrophy.php
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=269
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=292
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=297
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=293
http://www.fda.gov/
http://www.fda.gov/cder/regulatory/applications/nda.htm
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=294
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In 2007, Theratechnologies recovered rights for tesamorelin in Japan that were previously granted to Sakai Chemical Industry Co. Ltd. Under 
the terms of the agreement, Theratechnologies regained these rights and no additional consideration was disbursed. The Company believes 
that the worldwide rights for tesamorelin provide strategic value to the Company.

Theratechnologies has followed an approach that relies almost exclusively on the issuance of common equity to fund its activities. In 2007, the 
Company’s financial position was considerably strengthened by the successful completion of a $58 million equity offering in February 2007.

recent develOpments
The Company began to focus its efforts on the transition from late-stage development to commercialization of tesamorelin during the second  
half of 2007. This involved examining various options including the development of an internal sales force or entering into a standard out-licensing, 
co-promotion or commercial partnership agreement. The Company retained L.E.K. Consulting Inc. and BmO Nesbitt Burns Inc. (“BmO Capital 
markets”) to advise it regarding the commercialization process and the issues involved as well as to provide an overview of other avenues available 
to the Company. The board of directors also formed a committee of independent directors (the “Strategic Review Committee”), consisting of messrs.  
Gilles Cloutier, A. Jean de Grandpré, Gérald A. Lacoste and Paul Pommier (Chairman) to assist it in considering the Company’s options and 
to assist management in strategizing in connection with the transition to the Company’s next phase. During the following months, the Strategic 
Review Committee and the Board of Directors, with the assistance of BmO Capital markets, assessed whether the Company should engage  
in a formal review of strategic options to enhance shareholder value and the implications of entering into co-promotion or partnership agreements, 
pursuing business acquisitions, or seeking a sale of the Company.

On January 28, 2008, the Board of Directors met and concluded, with the advice of the Strategic Review Committee, that the Company should 
engage in a formal review of strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value (the “Review Process”). The Board engaged BmO Capital 
markets and Lazard Frères & Co. LLC to act as financial advisors in connection with the Review Process. In arriving at such decisions, it was 
emphasized that the Company’s strategy to develop and commercialize tesamorelin is proceeding as scheduled and that the Company’s current  
plan and outlook are expected to provide attractive returns for shareholders. Nevertheless, to determine whether any strategic interest on the part  
of buyers, merger candidates or potential partners might result in superior value, the Board authorized the Company to explore broadly whether 
third parties have any interest in a transaction with the Company.

Finally, in order for the Company to adequately finance the continuing development of tesamorelin and the ongoing preparations for 
commercialization, as well as to ensure that the Company maintains the necessary flexibility to consider all potential alternatives that may arise 
as a result of the Review Process, the Company completed, on February 13, 2008, a public offering for the sale and issuance of 3,500,000 
common shares, for a total cash consideration of $29,750,000. Share issue costs are estimated to be $1,938,000, resulting in net proceeds  
of $27,812,000. The Company has also granted the underwriters an over-allotment option for the sale and issue of 350,000 additional shares 
at an issue price of $8.50 per share, exercisable for a period of 30 days from closing. On a pro forma basis, the Company’s liquidities and tax 
credits receivable as at November 30, 2007 would have amounted to $89,598,000.

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=288
http://www.sakai-chem.co.jp/english/index.html
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=279
http://www.lek.com/
http://www.bmonesbittburns.com/
http://www.lazard.com/
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=309
http://www.theratech.com/en/theratechnologies/company-board.php
http://www.bmocm.com/default.aspx
http://www.bmocm.com/default.aspx
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selected annual infOrmatiOn

cOnsOlidated statement Of earnings
yEARS ENDED NOVEmBER 30 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  2007  2006   2005
Revenues   $ 3,134 $ 1,649 $ 16,461 
Research and development before tax credits $ 31,866 $ 22,049  $ 14,987 
Operating loss before loss on investments  $ (37,531) $ (25,861) $ (5,011) 
Loss on investments in companies $ (57) $ –  $ (2,659) 
Net loss    $ (37,588) $ (25,861)  $ (14,343)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.71) $ (0.60) $ (0.40)

cOnsOlidated balance sheet
AT NOVEmBER 30

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  2007  2006  2005
Liquidities (cash and bonds) $ 60,368 $ 35,680 $ 39,026 
Tax credits receivable $ 1,418 $ 1,911 $ 978 
Investments in public companies $ 635 $ 836 $ 836 
Total assets   $ 74,590 $ 50,968 $ 53,645 
Capital stock   $ 238,842 $ 177,552 $ 155,659 
Shareholders’ equity $ 65,977 $ 44,475 $ 49,006

Operating results
revenues 
Theratechnologies’ consolidated revenues for the year ended November 30, 2007 were $3,134,000 compared to $1,649,000 in 2006. The 2007  
revenues include $619,000 received as an upfront payment in the form of stock options from OctoPlus N.V. (“OctoPlus”), a Dutch company, 
in return for the Company’s worldwide rights to the development and commercialization of its GLP-1 program. The Company has no other service 
obligations under the agreement and may receive further milestone payments of up to €36 million (approximately CA$53 million) based on 
development, clinical phases and commercialization, as well as royalty payments on future sales of products developed and commercialized 
under the agreement. The OctoPlus stock options were valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model. most of the remaining revenues for 2007, 
and substantially all of the revenues for 2006, were derived from interest on investments. Interest revenue was higher in 2007 due to an increase 
in funds invested following a public offering of common shares completed in February 2007 with net proceeds to the Company of $54,562,000.

r&d activities 
Consolidated research and development (R&D) expenditures, before tax credits, totaled $31,866,000 for the year ended November 30, 2007, 
compared to $22,049,000 in 2006. The increase in R&D expenditures for 2007 reflects the level of activity with respect to the simultaneous 
conduct of the Company’s two Phase 3 pivotal studies.

The Company anticipates announcing results of the Phase 3 confirmatory study (results after 26 weeks) during the course of the second quarter  
of 2008. The direct costs related to the second confirmatory Phase 3 clinical study are estimated to be between $7 and $9 million. The Company 
is also carrying out an extension phase to its confirmatory Phase 3 clinical study. The direct costs related to this extension phase are estimated  
to be between $11 and $13 million.

Once the Phase 3 clinical program is completed, the Company expects to submit a NDA for tesamorelin in the United States by the end of 2008.

http://www.octoplus.nl/
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tax credits 
Tax credits amounted to $1,652,000 for the year ended November 30, 2007, compared to $954,000 in 2006. Tax credits represent refundable tax  
credits obtained from the Québec Government. An amount of $400,000 of the increase relates to modifications made by the Québec Government 
to the tax credit program in December 2006. The increase in R&D expenditures in 2007 also contributed to the increase in tax credits receivable.

Other expenses 
For the year ended November 30, 2007, general and administrative expenses, patents and amortization of other assets (“G&A”) were $8,100,000 
compared to $5,513,000 in 2006. The increase in 2007 is attributable to higher stock-based compensation related to a special grant of stock 
options in January 2007 to all employees ($1,035,000 compared to $713,000 in 2006). This stock-based compensation had no impact on the 
Company’s liquidities. Secondly, the Company incurred a foreign exchange loss of $598,000 in 2007 compared to a gain of $111,000 in 2006. 
Finally, the increase in these costs is also associated with the growth and development of the Company.

Selling and market development expenses were $2,351,000, compared to $902,000 in 2006. This increase reflects the activities associated 
with pre-commercialization.

net results
Reflecting the variations in revenues and expenses described above, the Company recorded a 2007 net loss of $37,588,000, or $0.71 per share, 
compared to a loss of $25,861,000, or $0.60 per share, in 2006. 

Quarterly financial infOrmatiOn 
The selected financial information provided below is derived from the Company’s unaudited quarterly financial statements for each of the last 
eight quarters.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)     2007        2006
      Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1
Revenues   $ 1,294 $ 748 $ 805 $ 287 $ 367 $ 412 $ 395 $ 475 
Net loss    $ (10,279) $ (9,781) $ (8,089) $ (9,439) $ (6,942) $ (7,251) $ (6,221) $ (5,447) 
Basic and diluted  
 loss per share  $ (0.19) $ (0.18) $ (0.15) $ (0.20) $ (0.15) $ (0.16) $ (0.14) $ (0.15)

The increase in revenues in 2007 results primarily from higher liquidities in 2007, which are higher than those in 2006 as a result of the financing  
in February 2007. Revenues for the fourth quarter include an amount of $619,000 received in the form of stock options as an upfront payment for 
the granting of the worldwide rights for the development and commercialization of the GLP-1 program to OctoPlus.

fOurth Quarter
Theratechnologies’ consolidated revenues for the three-month period ended November 30, 2007 were $1,294,000 compared to $367,000  
in 2006. The increase in revenues in the fourth quarter of 2007 results from higher liquidities compared to 2006 associated with the financing 
in February 2007. Revenue of $619,000 related to the license granted to OctoPlus, previously described, also explains this increase.

Consolidated R&D expenditures, before tax credits, for the fourth quarter of 2007 totaled $8,475,000, compared to $5,963,000 in 2006. The 
increase in R&D expenditures for 2007 reflects the level of activity with respect to the simultaneous conduct of the Company’s two pivotal studies.
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General and administrative expenses, patents and amortization of other assets for the fourth quarter of 2007 were $2,304,000 compared 
to $1,467,000 for the same period in 2006. This increase in expenses in 2007 results from a loss of $159,000 on foreign exchange in 2007 
compared to a gain of $1,000 in 2006. The increase in these expenses is also due to higher costs associated with the overall growth and 
development of the Company. Selling and market development expenses increased by $476,000, and reflect the costs associated with  
pre-commercialization activities.

Consequently, the Company recorded a net loss of $10,279,000 or $0.19 per share for the fourth quarter ended November 30, 2007, compared 
to a net loss of $6,942,000 or $0.15 per share in 2006.

For the three-month period ended November 30, 2007, the burn rate relating to operating activities, excluding changes in operating assets  
and liabilities, was $9,958,000, compared to $6,492,000 in 2006, reflecting the higher expenses described previously. 

liQuidity and capital resOurces 
The Company’s principal capital needs consist of financing its research and development activities, general and administrative expenses, working 
capital and capital expenditures. Since inception, the Company has financed these needs primarily through public offerings of common shares, 
private placements, investment tax credits, grants, interest income as well as proceeds and royalties from technologies.

For the year ended November 30, 2007, the burn rate, represented by cash flows from operating activities and excluding changes in operating 
assets and liabilities, was $34,698,000 compared to $23,917,000 in 2006. The increase in the burn rate in 2007 reflects the planned increase 
in activities related to the Phase 3 program, including activities associated with the pre-commercialization of tesamorelin. The monthly average 
burn rate for 2008 should be between $3,500,000 and $3,800,000, reflecting the level of activity surrounding the finalization of the Phase 3 
program and the submission of a NDA for tesamorelin in 2008, as well as related pre-commercialization activities.

Despite the increase in the burn rate in 2007, Theratechnologies maintained an adequate liquidity position in 2007. At November 30, 2007, 
cash and bonds amounted to $60,368,000 and tax credits receivable amounted to $1,418,000, for a total of $61,786,000.

The Company has a line of credit of $1,800,000 for its short-term financing needs. As at November 30, 2007, this line of credit had not been 
used, however $505,000 of this amount was allocated to secure an irrevocable letter of credit related to lease commitments. 

The Company invests its available cash in fixed income instruments from governmental, paragovernmental and municipal bodies as well as from  
companies with high credit ratings, which can readily be converted into cash. These instruments are selected with regard to the expected timing  
of expenditures and prevailing interest rates.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed a public offering for the sale and issuance of 6,875,000 common shares, including those 
issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option, for a total cash consideration of $57,750,000. Issue costs totaled $3,188,000, 
resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $54,562,000. 

In the year ended November 30, 2007, the Company issued 867,700 common shares following the exercise of stock options, for total cash proceeds 
of $2,392,000. During 2007, the Company also issued 13,074 common shares to employees for a total cash consideration of $129,000 in 
connection with its share purchase plan.

In march 2006, Theratechnologies issued 11,192,500 common shares through a public offering for cash proceeds of $21,825,000, including 
cash received from the exercise of the over-allotment option. Also in 2006, the Company issued 29,874 common shares to employees for  
a total cash consideration of $68,000.
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During the year ended November 30, 2007, the Company sold the balance of its common shares in Thallion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly 
Ecopia BioSciences Inc.). The Company also exchanged its shares in Sonomed Inc. (formerly Andromed Inc.) for shares of SND Energy Ltd. 
pursuant to an arrangement between Sonomed Inc. and SND Energy Ltd. The principal objective of the plan was to distribute the quasi-
totality of Sonomed’s assets to its shareholders. During the course of fiscal 2007, the Company received an amount of $779,000 related  
to these transactions.

Reflecting the financing of February 2008, (see “Overview-Recent Developments”), the Company believes that its cash position will be sufficient 
to finance its operations and capital needs for at least two years. However, to support its operations on a long-term basis, the Company may need 
to undertake additional financing activities.

cOntractual ObligatiOns
As at November 30, 2007, the Company’s commitments are principally obligations under an operating lease related to its premises (refer to note 9 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements). Required payments under the operating lease agreement are presented below.

PAymENTS REQUIRED By DUE DATE
         Less than  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)    Total  1 year  1 to 3 years  4 to 5 years  Over 5 years
Operating lease   $ 1,963 $ 807 $ 1,156 $ — $ —

Off-balance sheet agreements
The Company was not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements as at November 30, 2007, with the exception of an irrevocable letter of credit 
issued in the amount of $505,000 related to lease commitments.

subseQuent events
See “Overview-Recent Developments”.

critical accOunting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  
A change in the facts and circumstances of the underlying transaction could significantly change the application of the accounting policies and  
the resulting financial statement impact. Discussed below are those policies that are judged to be critical and require the use of complex judgment  
in their application. 

prOperty and eQuipment and Other assets 
Property and equipment and other assets are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided using methods and annual rates 
which are expected to reflect their economic and useful life. On a regular basis, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives of its property 
and equipment. Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated useful lives of property and equipment requires judgement and is based on 
currently available information.

http://www.thallion.com/
http://www.sonomedinc.com/
http://www.cga-canada.org/en-ca/AboutCGACanada/CGAMagazine/2003/Nov-Dec/Pages/ca_2003_11-12_dp_standards.aspx
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impairment Of lOng-term assets 
The Company reviews its property and equipment and other assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured by the comparison of the carrying amount 
of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from the assets. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of 
the asset. management’s judgment regarding the existence of impairment indicators is based on legal factors, market conditions and operating 
performance. The fair value against which the asset is measured may be established based on comparable information or transactions, discounted 
cash flows or other methods of assessment depending on the nature of the asset. In estimating future cash flows, the Company uses its best 
estimates based on internal plans. Changes in circumstances, such as technological advances and changes to our business strategy can result in 
actual useful lives and future cash flows differing significantly from our estimates. Revisions to the estimated useful lives of property and equipment 
or future cash flows constitute a change in accounting estimates and are applied prospectively.

incOme taxes 
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet  
to account for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the respective accounting and taxable value of balance  
sheet assets and liabilities. Future income tax assets and income tax liabilities are measured using the income tax rates that are expected to apply  
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. The effect of changes in income tax rates is recognized in the year during which these rates 
change. As appropriate, a valuation allowance is recognized to decrease the value of tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be 
realized. In estimating the realization of future income tax assets, management considers whether a portion or all future tax assets is more likely 
than not to be realized. Realization is subject to future taxable income. As at November 30, 2007, the Company determined that a tax valuation 
allowance for the full amount of future tax assets was necessary. In the event the Company was to determine that it would be able to realize its 
tax asset, an adjustment to the tax asset would increase income in the period in which such determination is made.

research and develOpment 
Research and development expenditures consist of direct and indirect expenses. They are expensed as they are incurred. The Company accounts 
for clinical trial expenses on the basis of work completed which relies on estimates of total costs incurred based on completion of patient studies, 
on the number of patients and other factors. The expenses that are recorded with respect to clinical trials are reviewed as the trial advances up 
until its final phase.

stOck-based cOmpensatiOn and Other stOck-based payments 
The Company accounts for employee and non-employee stock options using the fair value based method estimated using the Black-Scholes 
model, which requires the use of certain assumptions, including future stock price volatility and the time interval until the options are exercised. 
Any change to these assumptions could lead to a variation of the fair value of the stock-based compensation, which could have a material 
impact on the Company’s results. Under this method, compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant and is expensed over  
the vesting period. 

gOvernment assistance 
Government assistance consists of research tax credits and grants and is applied against related expenses and the cost of the asset acquired. 
Tax credits are available based on eligible research and development expenses consisting of direct and indirect expenditures and including a 
reasonable allocation of overhead expenses. Grants are subject to compliance with terms and conditions of the related agreements. Government 
assistance is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the requirements of the approved grant program or, with 
regard to tax credits, when there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized. 
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changes in accOunting pOlicies
Effective with the commencement of its 2007 fiscal year, the Company adopted recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (‘’CICA’’) Handbook Section 1530, Comprehensive Income, CICA Handbook Section 3251, Equity, CICA Handbook Section 3855, 
Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, CICA Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation, and  
CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. These new Handbook Sections provide comprehensive requirements for the recognition and measurement  
of financial instruments, as well as standards on when and how hedge accounting may be applied.

CICA Handbook Section 1530 also establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is defined 
as the change in equity from transactions and other events from non-owner sources. “Other comprehensive income” refers to items recognized  
in comprehensive income but that are excluded from net income calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A new 
financial statement has been presented in relation to the new standards.

Under Handbook Section 3855, all financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity 
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are  
included on the consolidated balance sheet and are measured either at fair market value with the exception of loans and receivables, investments  
held-to-maturity and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement and recognition of changes in fair  
value of financial instruments depend on their initial classification. Held-for-trading financial investments are measured at fair value and all gains 
and losses are included in net income in the period in which they arise. Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with 
revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive income until the assets are removed from the balance sheet.

The standards also require derivative instruments to be recorded as either assets or liabilities measured at their fair value unless exempted from  
derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale. Certain derivatives embedded in other contracts must also be measured at fair value. All changes  
in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met, which requires that a company must 
formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting. 

As a result of the adoption of these standards, the Company has classified its bonds and investments in public companies as available-for-sale 
financial assets and are now measured at fair market value. Previously, these investments were recorded at the lower of cost and fair market value. 
On December 1, 2006, the impact of $79,000 of these changes in accounting policies is included in the opening balance of accumulated other 
comprehensive income. 

The adoption of the standards of Sections 3251, 3861 and 3855 has no impact on the financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2007.

recent accOunting prOnOuncements
capital disclOsures
In December 2006, the CICA issued Section 1535, Capital Disclosures. This Section established standards for disclosing information about 
an entity’s capital and how it is managed. This Section is effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after October 1, 2007. This new standard 
relates to disclosure only and will not impact our financial results.

financial instruments – disclOsure and presentatiOn
In December 2006, the CICA issued Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosure, and Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. 
These Sections are effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after October 1, 2007. These sections replace existing Section 3861, Financial 
Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. Disclosure standards are enhanced and expanded to complement the changes in accounting policy 
adopted in accordance with Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognitions and Measurement. These new standards relate to disclosure  
and presentation only and will not impact our financial results.

http://www.cica.ca/
http://www.cica.ca/
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internatiOnal financial repOrting standards
In 2005 the Accounting Standards Board of Canada (AcSB) announced that accounting standards in Canada are to converge with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In may 2007, the CICA published an updated version of its “Implementation Plan for Incorporating IFRS 
into Canadian GAAP”. This plan includes an outline of the key decisions that the CICA will need to make as it implements the Strategic Plan for 
publicly accountable enterprises that will converge Canadian generally accepted accounting standards with IFRS. It is anticipated that the decision 
on the changeover date from current Canadian GAAP to IFRS will be made by the CICA by march 31, 2008. While IFRS uses a conceptual 
framework similar to Canadian GAAP, there are significant differences in accounting policy which must be addressed. We are currently assessing 
the future impact of these new standards on our consolidated financial statements.

financial instruments 
The Company has determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, accounts receivable, tax 
credits and grants receivable as well as accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair value because of the relatively short periods 
to maturity of these instruments.

The fair market value of bonds amounts to $57,790,000 as at November 30, 2007 ($35,467,000 in 2006). The fair value of investments in public 
companies amounts to $635,000 as at November 30, 2007 ($1,112,000 in 2006).

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to perform according to the terms of the contract.  
The Company regularly monitors the credit risk exposure and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of these exposures from resulting in actual loss.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of bonds. The Company 
has investment policies that ensure the safety and preservation of principal and that ensure the Company’s liquidity needs are met.

The Company has financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments 
to reduce its foreign exchange exposure. General and administrative expenses include a loss on exchange of $598,000 for the year ended 
November 30, 2007 (gain of $111,000 in 2006).

Outstanding share data 
Between December 1, 2007 and February 13, 2008, 68,332 options were exercised at a weighted average price of $3.53 per share for a cash 
consideration of $241,533. The Company also granted 81,000 options to its employees at a weighted average price of $8.63. At February 13, 2008, 
the number of shares issued and outstanding was 58,099,465 common shares, while outstanding options granted under the stock option plan 
were 2,220,301. 

disclOsure cOntrOls and prOcedures 
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company are responsible for establishing and maintaining controls and 
procedures regarding the communication of information about the Company, as well as internal controls over its financial reporting. As required 
by securities legislation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have conducted an evaluation of the controls and procedures 
regarding communication of information and have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective. In addition, the Chief Executive  
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company are responsible for designing internal controls over financial reporting or for causing it  
to be designed under their supervision. During the 2006 fiscal year, they had all existing systems documented and have corrected inadequacies, 
as the case may be. That documentation has been updated in 2007.

http://www.acsbcanada.org/index.cfm/ci_id/185/la_id/1.htm
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risks and uncertainties 
The commercial success of the Company depends largely on the development and commercialization of tesamorelin;  
the failure by the Company to commercialize tesamorelin will have a material adverse effect on the Company.
The Company’s focus has been to advance the development of tesamorelin in which it has invested a significant portion of its financial resources  
and time. Although the Company has other analogues and peptides, all are at an earlier stage of development.

The ability of the Company to generate revenues in the future is primarily based on the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of 
HIV-associated lipodystrophy. There can be no guarantee that tesamorelin will be commercialized since it is still under development and the 
Company is conducting clinical trials to further assess its safety and efficacy. Also, there can be no guarantee that the results of the ongoing 
clinical trials will yield positive results. Even if positive results are derived from such clinical trials, the commercialization of tesamorelin for the 
treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy will depend on several factors:
•	 timely	receipt	of	regulatory	approvals	from	the	FDA	and	other	regulatory	agencies;
•	 	market	acceptance	of	the	product	by	the	medical	community,	patients	and	third-party	payers	(such	as	governmental	health	administration	

authorities	and	private	health	coverage	insurers);
•	 	building	a	marketing	and	sales	force	or	entering	into	a	commercial	agreement	with	a	partner	to	help	the	marketing	and	sale	of	tesamorelin	

for	the	treatment	of	HIV-associated	lipodystrophy;
•	 maintaining	manufacturing	and	supply	agreements	to	ensure	commercial	quantities	of	tesamorelin	through	validated	processes;
•	 a	change	in	the	number	of	competitors	in	the	market;	and
•	 protecting	the	Company’s	intellectual	property	and	avoiding	patent	infringement.

The Company’s inability to commercialize tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the short term will delay its capacity 
to generate revenues and will adversely materially affect its financial conditions and operating results.

The Company does not have the required regulatory approval to commercialize its products and cannot guarantee that it will 
obtain such regulatory approval.
The commercialization of the Company’s products first requires the approval of the regulatory agencies in each of the countries where it intends 
to sell its products. In order to obtain the required approvals, the Company must demonstrate, following preclinical and clinical studies, the safety,  
efficacy and quality of a product. As far as tesamorelin is concerned, the first market the Company wishes to penetrate for the treatment of HIV-
associated lipodystrophy is the United States where the rules and regulations relating to the approval of a new drug are complex and stringent. 
There can be no guarantee that the Company will succeed in obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA and the regulatory approvals of agencies  
in other countries to sell its tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy. 

All of the analogues and peptides of the Company, including tesamorelin, are still subject to clinical studies and if the results of such studies 
are not positive, the Company may not be in a position to make any filing to obtain the mandatory regulatory approval or it may have to perform 
additional clinical studies on any of its products until the results support the safety and efficacy of such product, therefore incurring additional 
delays and costs.

The filing of an NDA is complex and the Company has never made any filings in order to obtain the regulatory approval of a product. Therefore, 
the Company must rely in part on third-party suppliers to help it perform this task.
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Furthermore, the obtaining of regulatory approval is subject to the discretion of regulatory agencies. Therefore, even if the Company has obtained  
positive results relating to the safety and efficacy of a product, a regulatory agency may not accept such results as being conclusive and allow 
the Company to sell its products in its country. A regulatory agency may require that additional tests on the safety and efficacy of a product  
be conducted prior to granting approval, if any. Although the Company received a Special Protocol Assessment (“SPA”) from the FDA and the 
Company has followed it, there can be no guarantee that the FDA will approve tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy. 
Even if the FDA approves tesamorelin, there can be no guarantee that other regulatory agencies will approve tesamorelin for the treatment  
of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in their respective countries.

Even if the Company obtains regulatory approval for any of its products, regulatory agencies have the power to limit the indicated use of a product.  
Also, the manufacture, marketing and sale of the products will be subject to ongoing and extensive governmental regulation in the country in which  
the Company intends to market its products. For instance, if the Company obtains marketing approval for its tesamorelin in the United States, 
the marketing of tesamorelin will be subject to extensive regulatory requirements administered by the FDA and other regulatory bodies, such  
as adverse event reporting requirements in compliance with all of the FDA’s marketing and promotional requirements. The manufacturing facilities 
for the Company’s tesamorelin will also be subject to continual review and periodic inspection and approval of manufacturing modifications. 
manufacturing facilities are subject to inspections by the FDA and must comply with the FDA’s Good manufacturing Practices (“GmP”) regulations. 
Failure to comply with any of these post-approval requirements can result in a series of sanctions, including withdrawal of the right to market  
a product.

The Company’s financial condition could be affected by the introduction of new regulations or amendments to existing regulations.
New legislation or changes to existing legislation affecting the Company and its potential customers could decrease demand for the Company’s 
products and affect its results of operation and financial condition. For example, the implementation of health care reform legislation that regulates  
drug costs could limit the profits that could be made from the development of new drugs. In addition, new laws or regulations could increase 
the Company’s costs.

The Company must complete several preclinical and clinical studies for its products which may not yield positive results and, 
consequently, could prevent it from obtaining regulatory approval.
Obtaining regulatory approval for the commercialization of drug products requires demonstration through preclinical and clinical studies that 
the drug is safe and effective. All of the Company’s molecules are in preclinical studies, except tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated 
lipodystrophy that is in Phase 3 clinical studies. Although the clinical studies for tesamorelin are near completion for the purposes of submitting 
an NDA to the FDA, there can be no assurance that the results obtained in the past will be as positive as those expected for the remaining clinical 
studies. If the remaining clinical studies on tesamorelin do not yield positive results, the submission of an NDA to the FDA will be delayed and the 
development and commercialization of tesamorelin for the proposed indication could be jeopardized. A delay in submitting an NDA to the FDA 
could adversely materially impact the capacity of the Company to generate revenues, its financial condition and results of operation.

Human clinical trials may result in adverse patient reactions, which may require a cessation or extension of the trials, an increase in the number 
of patients enrolled in a given trial or the need to undertake ancillary testing and human trials.

All of the other molecules are in early development stages and there remains preclinical and clinical studies to be conducted prior to determining  
whether such molecules will show positive results of safety and efficacy. If any of those studies are not positively conclusive, the development 
of such products could be cancelled and their commercialization abandoned. In addition, the growth of the Company could be compromised 
since there can be no guarantee that the Company would be able to develop new molecules, or license or purchase compounds or products 
that will result in marketed products.
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The Company relies on third party suppliers of services to conduct its preclinical and clinical studies and the failure by 
such third parties to comply with their obligations may delay the studies and/or have an adverse effect on the Company’s 
development program.
The Company has limited resources to conduct preclinical and clinical studies and must rely on third-party suppliers of services to conduct its 
studies. If the Company’s third-party suppliers of services become unavailable for any reason, including as a result of the failure to comply with 
the rules and regulations governing the conduct of preclinical and clinical studies, operational failures, such as equipment failures or unplanned 
facility shutdowns, damage from any event, including fire, flood, earthquake, business restructuring or insolvency, or if they fail to perform their 
contractual obligations pursuant to the terms of the agreements entered into with the Company, such as failing to do the testing, compute the 
data or complete the reports further to the testings, the Company may incur delays in connection with the planned timing of its studies which 
could adversely affect the timing of the development program of a molecule or delay the filing of an NDA. If the damage to any of the Company’s 
third-party suppliers of services is extensive or if, for any reason, such suppliers do not operate in compliance with Good Clinical Practices 
(“GCP”) or are unable or refuse to perform their contractual obligations, the Company will need to find alternative third-party suppliers of services.

If the Company must change or select new third-party suppliers of services, the timing of the work related to preclinical and/or clinical studies 
could be delayed since the number of competent and reliable third-party suppliers to conduct preclinical and clinical work in compliance with 
Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) is limited. Any selection of new third-party suppliers to carry out work related to preclinical and clinical studies  
will be time-consuming and will result in additional delays in receiving data, analysis and reports from such third-party suppliers which, in turn,  
will delay the obtaining of regulatory approval to commercialize the Company’s products. Furthermore, such delays could increase the Company’s  
expenditures to develop a product and materially adversely affect its operating results and financial condition.

The conduct of clinical trials requires the enrolment of patients and difficulties in enrolling patients will delay the conduct  
of the Company’s clinical trials or result in non-completion of them.
Although patient enrolment for the Company’s confirmatory Phase 3 clinical studies of tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy is completed,  
generally the conduct of clinical trials by the Company requires the enrolment of patients. Depending on the phase of the trials and/or the type 
of trials that must be conducted, the number of patients may vary. Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials generally require a smaller number of patients than  
Phase 3 trials.

The Company may have difficulties enrolling patients for the conduct of its clinical trials as a result of design protocol, the size of the patient 
population, the eligibility criteria to participate in the clinical trials, the availability of competing therapies, the patient referral practices 
of physicians and the availability of clinical trial sites. The Company’s difficulty in enrolling patients for its clinical trials may result in the 
cancellation of its planned clinical trials, delays in completing them or termination of ongoing clinical trials. Any of these events will have 
adverse consequences on the timely development of new products, the filing of an NDA or other application with the regulatory authorities 
and the commercialization of the products. Such events may adversely affect the business, the financial condition and the operating results  
of the Company.

Market acceptance of the Company’s products is uncertain and depends on a variety of factors, some of which are not under  
the control of the Company.
The Company’s ability to commercialize its products with success will depend on a variety of factors. One of these is the extent to which 
reimbursement to patients for the cost of such products and related treatment will be available from governmental health administration authorities, 
private health coverage insurers and other organizations. Obtaining reimbursement approval for a product is time-consuming and a costly process  
that could require the Company to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the use of a product. There can be no 
guarantee the Company’s data will be positive enough for third-party payers to accept to reimburse a Company product.
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The Company has never made any application to seek reimbursement of a drug and must, therefore, rely in part on third-party suppliers of services 
to help it perform this task.

Other factors that will have an impact on the acceptance of the Company’s products include:
•	 acceptance	of	the	products	by	physicians	and	patients	as	safe	and	effective	treatments;
•	 product	price;
•	 the	effectiveness	of	the	Company’s	sales	and	marketing	efforts	(or	those	of	its	commercial	partner);
•	 storage	requirements	and	ease	of	administration;
•	 dosing	regimen;
•	 safety	and	efficacy;
•	 prevalence	and	severity	of	side	effects;	and
•	 competitive	products.

The Company’s capacity to generate revenues may be limited by governmental control over the pricing of prescription drugs.
In some countries, particularly the member states of the European Union, the pricing of prescription drugs is subject to governmental control. 
In some of these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities and reimbursement structures may delay the marketing of a 
product. If reimbursement of the Company’s products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels,  
the revenues of the Company could be adversely affected.

The Company relies on third parties for the manufacture and supply of its tesamorelin and such reliance may adversely affect 
the Company if the third parties are unable to fulfill their obligations.
The Company does not have the resources, facilities or experience to manufacture its products in large quantities on its own. The Company relies 
on third parties to manufacture and supply its tesamorelin for clinical studies and, unless the Company deems the manufacture of this peptide 
feasible and profitable if tesamorelin is approved for commercialization, it will continue to rely on third parties for some time to manufacture and 
supply large quantities of tesamorelin for commercial sales. 

The Company’s reliance on third-party manufacturers will expose it to a number of risks. If third-party manufacturers become unavailable to 
the Company for any reason, including as a result of the failure to comply with GmP regulations, manufacturing problems or other operational 
failures, such as equipment failures or unplanned facility shutdowns required to comply with GmP, damage from any event, including fire, flood, 
earthquake, business restructuring or insolvency, or if they fail to perform their contractual obligations under agreements with the Company, such  
as failing to deliver the quantities requested on a timely basis, the Company may be delayed in manufacturing tesamorelin or any other peptide  
and, in the case of tesamorelin, could be unable to meet the regulatory requirements of the FDA or other regulatory agencies to obtain market  
approval for its tesamorelin. Any such event could delay the supply of a product to conduct clinical trials and, if a product has reached 
commercialization, could prevent the supply of the product and adversely affect the revenues of the Company. If the damage to a third-party  
manufacturer facility is extensive, or, for any reason, it does not operate in compliance with GmP or is unable or refuses to perform its obligations  
under its agreement with the Company, the Company will need to find an alternative third-party manufacturer. The selection of a third-party 
manufacturer will be time-consuming and costly since the Company will need to validate the manufacturing facility of such new third-party 
manufacturer. The validation will include an assessment of the capacity of such third-party manufacturer to produce the quantities that may be 
requested from time to time by the Company, the manufacturing process and its compliance with GmP. In addition, the third-party manufacturer 
will have to familiarize itself with the Company’s technology. Any delay in finding an alternative third-party manufacturer of a product could result  
in a shortage of such product, delay clinical study programs and the filing for regulatory approval of a product, and deprive the Company  
of potential product revenues.
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The Company must build its own sales force or enter into a commercial agreement with a third party for the sale and marketing 
of its products and there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to achieve one of these tasks.
The Company currently has limited marketing capabilities and no sales force. In addition, the Company has limited experience in developing, 
training or managing a marketing or sales force. In order to commercialize its products, the Company must either develop its own sales force 
or enter into a commercial agreement with a third party. The development of a sales force is costly and will be time-consuming given the limited 
experience the Company has in that respect. To the extent the Company develops a sales force, the Company will be competing against 
companies who have more experience managing a sales force than the Company and access to more funds than the Company with which  
to manage a sales force. Consequently, there can be no guarantee that the sales force that the Company would develop would be efficient  
and would maximize the revenues derived from the sale of the Company’s products.

Finding a third party for the sale and commercialization of a product is a lengthy process which includes the assessment of the services to be performed 
by the third party, a due diligence on the Company’s products and the negotiation of the terms and conditions of a commercial agreement. The outcome 
of this process is uncertain and the Company may not be able to conclude a commercial agreement. If such an event occurs, the Company could have  
to delay the launch of its products which could adversely materially affect the financial conditions and the operating results of the Company.

The failure by the Company to protect its intellectual property may have a material adverse effect on its ability to develop  
and commercialize its products.
The Company will be able to protect its intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that its intellectual 
property rights are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. The Company tries to protect its 
intellectual property position by filing patent applications related to its proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important 
to the development of its business. Because the patent position of pharmaceutical companies involves complex legal and factual questions, the  
issuance, scope and enforceability of patents cannot be predicted with certainty. Patents, if issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. 
If the Company’s patents are invalidated or found to be unenforceable, it will lose the ability to exclude others from making, using or selling the 
inventions claimed. moreover, an issued patent does not guarantee the Company the right to use the patented technology or commercialize a 
product using that technology. Third parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent the Company from developing its product 
candidates, selling its products or commercializing its patented technology. Thus, patents that the Company owns may not allow it to exploit the 
rights conferred by its intellectual property protection. The Company’s pending patent applications may not result in patents being issued. Even 
if issued, they may not be issued with claims sufficiently broad to protect its products and technologies or may not provide the Company with  
a competitive advantage against competitors with similar products or technologies. Furthermore, others may independently develop products  
or technologies similar to those that the Company has developed or discover the Company’s trade secrets. In addition, the laws of many countries 
do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of Canada and the United States, and those countries may also lack 
adequate rules and procedures for defending intellectual property rights effectively.

Although the Company has received a patent from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy with 
tesamorelin, there can be no guarantee that the Company will receive a patent in the other countries where it filed a patent application for the 
treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy with tesamorelin.

The Company also relies on trade secrets, know-how and technology, which are not protected by patents, to maintain its competitive position. 
The Company tries to protect this information by entering into confidentiality undertakings with parties that have access to it, such as the 
Company’s current and prospective suppliers, employees and consultants. Any of these parties may breach the undertakings and disclose  
our confidential information to the Company’s competitors.
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Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using trade secrets is expensive and time consuming and the outcome is unpredictable. 
In addition, it could divert management’s attention. If any trade secret, know-how or other technology not protected by a patent were to be disclosed  
to or independently developed by a competitor, the Company’s competitive position could be harmed.

The Company’s commercial success depends, in part, on its ability not to infringe on third parties’ patents and other intellectual 
property rights.
The Company’s capacity to commercialize its products, and more particularly tesamorelin, will depend, in part, on the non-infringement of third  
parties’ patents and other intellectual property rights. The biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical industries have produced a multitude of patents  
and it is not always clear to participants, including the Company, which patents cover various types of products or methods of use. The scope 
and breadth of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts and such interpretation may vary depending on the jurisdiction where the claim 
is filed and the court where such claim is litigated. The holding of patents by the Company for its tesamorelin and its application in lipodystrophy 
does not guarantee that the Company is not infringing on other third parties’ patents and there can be no guarantee that the Company will not 
be in violation of third parties’ patents and other intellectual property rights.

Patent analysis for non-infringement is based in part on a review of publicly available databases. Although the Company reviews from time to time  
certain databases to conduct patent searches, it does not have access to all databases. It is also possible that some of the information contained  
in the databases has not been reviewed by the Company or was found to be irrelevant at the time the searches were conducted. In addition, 
because patents take years to be issued, there may be currently pending applications that the Company is unaware of which may later be issued.  
As a result of the foregoing, there can be no guarantee that the Company will not violate third-party patents.

Because of the difficulty in analyzing and interpreting patents, there can be no guarantee that a third party will not assert that the Company 
infringes upon any of its patents or any of its other intellectual property rights. Under such circumstances, there is no guarantee that the Company 
will not become involved in litigation. Litigation with any third party, even if the allegations are without merit, is expensive, time-consuming and will 
divert management’s attention from the daily execution of the Company’s business plan. Litigation implies that a portion of the Company’s financial 
assets would be used to sustain the costs of litigation instead of being allocated to further the development of its business plan.

If the Company is involved in patent infringement litigation, it will need to demonstrate that its products do not infringe the patent claims of the 
relevant patent, that the patent claims are invalid or that the patent is unenforceable. If the Company was found liable for infringement of third 
parties’ patents or other intellectual property rights, the Company could be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements on terms 
and conditions that may not be favourable to the Company, and/or pay damages, including up to treble damages (but only if found liable of 
wilful infringement) and/or cease the development and commercialization of its products. Any finding that the Company is guilty of patent 
infringement could materially adversely affect the business, financial conditions and operating results of the Company.

The Company has not been served with any notice that it is infringing on a third party patent, but there may be issued patents that the Company 
is unaware of that its products may infringe, or patents that the Company believes it does not infringe but could be found to be infringing. The 
Company has reviewed, and is aware of, third-party patents for the reduction of accumulation of fat tissue in HIV patients and the Company 
believes that it does not infringe any valid claims of these patents.

The Company faces competition and the development of new products by other companies could materially adversely affect  
the Company’s business and its products.
The biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical industries are highly competitive and the Company must compete with pharmaceutical companies, 
biotechnology companies, academic and research institutions as well as governmental agencies for the development and commercialization  
of products. Some of these competitors develop products in the indications in which the Company is involved. All of those products may have  
a positive effect on the treatment of lipodystrophy and could be considered direct or indirect competitors of tesamorelin. 
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In the other indications currently being studied by the Company for development, there may exist companies that are at a more advanced 
stage of developing a product to treat those diseases than the Company is. Some of these competitors have capital resources, research 
and development personnel and facilities that are superior to the Company’s. In addition, some competitors are more experienced than the 
Company in the commercialization of medical products and already have a sales force in place to launch new products. Consequently, they 
may be able to develop alternative forms of medical treatment which could compete with the products of the Company and commercialize them 
more rapidly and effectively than the Company.

The Company’s business may be harmed if it is unable to manage its growth effectively.
The Company expects to experience rapid growth throughout its operations if tesamorelin is commercialized. Such growth would place  
a strain on operational, human and financial resources. To manage its growth, the Company will have to make the transition from development  
to commercialization of its products, improve its operating and administrative systems and attract and retain qualified management, professional,  
scientific and technical operating personnel. 

There can be no guarantee that the Company will be successful in making the transition from development to commercialization of tesamorelin and 
keeping pace with developments and the sophisticated needs of its clients since it has limited experience with the commercialization of its products. 
Failure to manage growth effectively could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.

The Company depends on its key personnel to research, develop and bring new products to the market and the loss of key 
personnel or the inability to attract highly qualified individuals could have a material adverse effect on its business and 
growth potential.
The Company’s mission is to discover or acquire novel therapeutic products targeting unmet medical needs in attractive specialty markets. The  
achievement of this mission requires qualified scientific and management personnel. The loss of scientific personnel or of members of management  
could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company. In addition, the Company’s growth is and will continue to be dependent, 
in part, on its ability to retain and hire qualified scientific personnel. There can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to continue to retain  
its current employees or will be able to attract qualified personnel to pursue its business plan.

The Company is not profitable and may never achieve profitability. 
For the year ended November 30, 2007, the Company reported losses of $37,588,000. The Company has been reporting losses since its inception  
(except for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2001 and 2000) and as at November 30, 2007, it had an accumulated deficit of $177,339,000. 
The Company does not expect to generate revenues in the immediate future and will continue to experience losses as it continues to incur 
operating expenses to further the development of tesamorelin, prepare for its filing of an NDA with the FDA, seek to obtain regulatory approvals 
for tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy, prepare the commercialization of tesamorelin, continue the development of 
its other analogues and peptides and expand its research program. As a result of the foregoing, the Company will need to generate significant 
revenues to achieve profitability.

The Company’s profitability will depend on its capacity to commercialize tesamorelin, to control its selling, general and administrative expenses 
and to develop additional products. There is no guarantee that the Company will succeed in commercializing its products, controlling its expenses 
and developing additional products, and, therefore, it may never become profitable.
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The Company may require additional funding and may not be able to raise the capital necessary to continue and complete the 
research and development of its products and their commercialization.
The Company does not generate revenues and needs financing in order to continue its research and development of new products and its clinical  
programs, develop its marketing and commercial capabilities and meet its compliance obligations with the various rules and regulations to which  
it is subject. In the past, the Company has been financed through public equity offerings and the Company may effect additional equity offerings  
to raise capital, the size of which cannot be predicted. The issuance and sales of substantial amounts of equity or other securities, or the perception  
that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of the common shares.

moreover, the market conditions or the business performance of the Company may prevent it from having access to the public market in the 
future. Therefore, there can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to continue to raise capital by way of public equity offerings. In such 
a case, the Company will have to use other means of financing, such as issuing debt instruments or entering into private financing agreements, 
the terms and conditions of which may not be favourable to the Company. If adequate funding is not available to the Company, it may be required 
to delay, reduce or eliminate its research and development of new products, its clinical trials or its marketing and commercialization efforts  
to launch and distribute new products.

The Company may not achieve its publicly announced milestones in due time.
From time to time, the Company publicly announces the timing of the occurrence of certain events. These statements are forward-looking and 
are based on management’s best estimate relating to the occurrence of such events. However, the actual timing of such events may differ from 
what has been publicly disclosed. Events such as completion of a clinical program, discovery of a new peptide or analogue, filing of an NDA, 
commencement of commercialization or announcement of an additional indication for a product may vary from what is publicly disclosed. These 
variations may occur as a result of a series of events, including the nature of the results obtained during a clinical trial or during a research phase, 
problems with a supplier or any other event having the effect of delaying the timeline publicly announced. The Company’s policy on forward-
looking information consists in not updating it if the publicly disclosed timeline varies. Any variation in the timing of certain events having the effect  
of postponing such events could have an adverse material effect on the business plan, financial conditions or operating results of the Company.

The outcome of scientific research is uncertain and the failure by the Company to discover new products could slow down  
the Company’s growth.
The Company conducts research activities in order to feed its product pipeline. The outcome of scientific research is uncertain and may prove  
unsuccessful and, therefore, may not lead to the discovery of new molecules and progression of existing molecules to an advanced development  
stage. The inability of the Company to develop new molecules or to further develop the existing ones could slow down the growth of the Company.

The development and commercialization of drugs could expose the Company to liability claims which could exceed  
its insurance coverage.
A risk of product liability claims is inherent in the development and commercialization of human therapeutic products. Product liability insurance 
is very expensive and offers limited protection. A product liability claim against the Company could potentially be greater than the coverage offered  
and, therefore, have a material adverse effect upon the Company and its financial position. Furthermore, a product liability claim could tarnish 
the Company’s reputation, whether or not such claims are covered by insurance or are with or without merit.
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The Company may not receive the full payment of all milestones or royalty payments pursuant to the agreements entered into with 
third parties and, consequently, the financial conditions and the operating results of the Company could be adversely impacted.
The Company has entered into license agreements and other forms of agreements with third parties regarding the development and commercialization  
of some of its analogues and peptides. These agreements generally require that the third party pays to the Company certain amounts upon the 
attainment of various milestones and royalties on the sale of the developed product. There can be no guarantee that the Company will receive 
the payments described in those agreements since the development of the analogues or the peptides may be cancelled if the research does 
not yield positive results. Under such circumstances, the Company would not receive royalties as well. Even if the development of an analogue 
or peptide yields positive results, all of the risks described herein with respect to the obtaining of regulatory approval are applicable. Finally,  
if there occurs a disagreement between the Company and the third party, the payment relating to the attainment of milestones or of royalties 
may be delayed. The occurrence of any of those circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition  
and operating results.

There can be no assurance that the Review Process will result in any specific strategic or financial transactions and no timetable 
has been set for its completion.
Although the Company is reviewing various strategic alternatives, including entering into co-promotion or partnership agreements, pursuing 
business acquisitions or seeking a sale of the Company, there can be no guarantee that any transaction or other alternatives will ultimately be 
completed and will result in superior value for the shareholders of the Company. moreover, the Company may be required to expend significant 
resources in connection with the Review Process, which may have a material adverse impact on the availability and capital required to implement 
the Company’s business plan.

The Company’s common share price is volatile and investors could lose money as a result of such volatility.
The market price of the Company’s common shares is subject to volatility. General market conditions as well as differences between the 
Company’s financial, scientific and clinical results and the expectations of investors as well as securities analysts can have a significant impact 
on the trading price of the Company’s common shares. In recent years, the stocks of many biopharmaceutical companies have experienced 
extreme price fluctuations, unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. There can be no assurance that the market price  
of the common shares will not continue to experience significant fluctuations in the future, including fluctuations that are unrelated to the Company’s  
performance. The occurrence of any of the above risks and uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on the price of the common shares.

fOrward-lOOking infOrmatiOn
This annual report and the management’s discussion and analysis contained herein contain certain statements that are considered “forward-
looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities legislation. This forward-looking information includes, but is not limited to, 
information regarding the Phase 3 clinical program of tesamorelin (such as the completion and announcement of the results of the Phase 3  
studies and the filing of an NDA with the FDA), the commercialization of tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy, the size of the HIV-associated 
lipodystrophy market, the estimated costs of research and development programs and the liquidity needs to finance the Company’s operation. 
Furthermore, the words “will”, “may”, “could”, “should”, “outlook”, “believe”, “plan”, “envisage”, “anticipate”, “expect” and “estimate”, or the negatives  
of these terms or variations of them and the use of the conditional tense as well as similar expressions, denote forward-looking information.

Forward-looking information is based upon a number of assumptions and is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are 
beyond the Company’s control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those that are disclosed in or implied by such forward-
looking information. These risks and uncertainties are described under the section “Risks and Uncertainties” and include, but are not limited  
to, the negative results that the current Phase 3 clinical studies may yield, the risk that the Company may not obtain all required approvals from  
regulatory agencies to market its products, the risk that the Company’s products may not be accepted by the market, the difficulties the Company  
may encounter in building its sales force and the delays that may occur if the Company encounters problems with a third-party supplier of services.
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Although the forward-looking information contained in this annual report and the management’s discussion and analysis contained herein is based 
upon what the Company believes are reasonable assumptions, investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on this information since 
actual results may vary from the forward-looking information. Certain assumptions made in preparing the forward-looking information and the 
Company’s objectives include the assumption that past results obtained from the first Phase 3 clinical study will be repeated, that the time 
required to analyse and report the results of the Company’s clinical studies will be consistent with past timing, that discussions to be held  
with the FDA will be positive, that market data and report reviewed by the Company are accurate and that current relationships with the Company’s 
third-party suppliers of services and products will remain good.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking information contained in this annual report and the management’s discussion and analysis contained 
herein is qualified by the foregoing cautionary statements, and there can be no guarantee that the results or developments anticipated by the  
Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences or effects on the Company, its business, 
financial condition or operating results. The Company does not undertake to update or amend such forward-looking information whether as  
a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable law.

additiOnal infOrmatiOn abOut theratechnOlOgies
Further information about Theratechnologies can be found at www.theratech.com. Additional information, including the Company’s Annual 
Information Form, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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mANAGEmENT’S 
REPORT

The consolidated financial statements of Theratechnologies Inc. 
presented in the following pages and all information in this annual report  
are the responsibility of management and are subject to approval by the 
Board of Directors of the Company. 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada. 
They include amounts based on judgment and estimates. management 
has established these amounts reasonably to ensure that financial results  
are presented accurately in all material respects. The other financial 
information included in the annual report is consistent with that of the 
financial statements. 

In order to ensure accuracy and objectiveness of information included 
in the financial statements, the Company’s management maintains 
internal accounting and administrative control systems. management 
is of the opinion that these controls provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the adequacy of the accounting records for the preparation 
of the financial statements and the adequacy of the recording and 
safeguarding of assets.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management 
fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. 
The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board, and none 
of its members is involved in the daily operations of the Company. All 
the members of this Committee are financially literate. The Committee 

meets periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss  
internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters  
and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that everyone is properly  
discharging their responsibilities, and to review the financial statements 
with the external auditors.

The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when 
approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. 
The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval 
by the shareholders, the re-appointment of the external auditors. 

The financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders 
by KPmG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors have full 
and free access to the Audit Committee with respect to their findings 
concerning the fairness of the financial reporting and the adequacy  
of internal controls.

Yves Rosconi Luc Tanguay 
President and  Senior Executive Vice President 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
  
montréal, Canada 
February 13, 2008

http://www.kpmg.ca/en/
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 AUDITORS’ REPORT  
 TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Theratechnologies 
Inc. as at November 30, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated statements 
of earnings, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for 
the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and  
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial  
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,  
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in  
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting  
principles used and significant estimates made by management,  
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
November 30, 2007 and 2006 and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants 
Montréal, Canada

January 18, 2008 (except for note 13, which is as of February 13, 2008)
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CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE SHEETS

NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006

(in thousands of dollars)  2007  2006
Assets 
Current assets: 
 Cash  $ 2,578 $ 16 
 Bonds (notes 2 and 3 C)  27,466  18,023 
 Accounts receivable  451  289 
 Tax credits receivable  1,418  1,911 
 Research supplies  2,110  850 
 Prepaid expenses  414  391
     34,437  21,480 
 
Bonds (notes 2 and 3 C)  30,324  17,641 
Investments in public companies (note 2)  635  836 
Property and equipment (note 4)  1,722  1,580 
Other assets (note 5)  7,472  9,431
    $ 74,590 $ 50,968
 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities: 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 8,613 $ 6,493 
 
Shareholders’ equity: 
 Capital stock (note 6)  238,842  177,552 
 Contributed surplus  4,807  3,486 
 
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 2)  (333)  –  
 Deficit   (177,339)  (136,563)
     (177,672)  (136,563) 

Total shareholders’ equity  65,977  44,475 
 
Commitments (note 9) 
Subsequent event (note 13)
    $ 74,590 $ 50,968
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Paul Pommier Jean-Denis Talon 
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF EARNINgS

YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  2007  2006
Revenues: 
 Royalties, technologies and other (note 7) $ 638 $ 197 
 Interest   2,496  1,452
     3,134  1,649 
Operating costs and expenses: 
 Research and development  31,866  22,049 
 Tax credits  (1,652)  (954)
     30,214  21,095 
 general and administrative  7,260  4,886 
 Selling and market development  2,351  902 
 Patents and amortization of other assets (note 5)  840  627
    40,665  27,510
Operating loss before undernoted item  (37,531)  (25,861) 
Realized loss on disposal of investments in public companies  (57)  – 
Net loss   $ (37,588) $ (25,861)
Basic and diluted loss per share (note 6 D) $ (0.71) $ (0.60)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  52,581,559  43,325,197
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF COMPREHENSIvE LOSS

YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006

(in thousands of dollars)  2007  2006
Net loss   $ (37,588) $ (25,861) 
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale financial assets  (412)  – 
Comprehensive loss $ (38,000) $ (25,861)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EqUITY

YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006
     Accumulated 
     other 
   Capital stock Contributed comprehensive
(in thousands of dollars) Number Dollars surplus income (loss) Deficit Total
Balance, November 30, 2005  35,552,985 $ 155,659 $ 2,587 $ – $ (109,240) $ 49,006 
Issuance of share capital (note 6)  11,222,374  21,893  –   –   –   21,893 
Share issue costs  –   –   –   –   (1,462)  (1,462) 
Stock-based compensation  –   –   899  –   –   899 
Net loss    –   –   –   –   (25,861)  (25,861)
Balance, November 30, 2006  46,775,359  177,552  3,486  –   (136,563)  44,475 
Changes in accounting  
 policies (note 2)  –   –   –   79  –   79 
Issuance of share capital (note 6)  6,888,074  57,879  –   –   –   57,879 
Share issue costs  –   –   –   –   (3,188)  (3,188) 
Exercise of stock options: 
 Cash proceeds  867,700  2,392  –   –   –   2,392 
 Ascribed value  –   1,019  (1,019)  –   –   –  
Stock-based compensation  –   –   2,340  –   –   2,340 
Net loss    –   –   –   –   (37,588)  (37,588) 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale  
 financial assets  –   –   –   (412)  –   (412)
Balance, November 30, 2007  54,531,133 $ 238,842 $ 4,807 $ (333) $ (177,339) $ 65,977
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006

(in thousands of dollars)  2007  2006
Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net loss  $ (37,588) $ (25,861) 
 Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation of property and equipment  550  569 
  Amortization of other assets  562  476 
  Stock-based compensation  2,340  899 
  Non-cash revenues (note 7)  (619)  –  
  Loss on disposal of investments in public companies  57  – 
     (34,698)  (23,917) 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Interest receivable on bonds  (364)  342 
  Accounts receivable  (137)  (106) 
  Tax credits receivable  493  (933) 
  Research supplies   368  (513) 
  Prepaid expenses  (23)  34 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,952  1,974
     2,289  798
     (32,409)  (23,119) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Share issuance  60,271  21,893 
 Share issue costs  (3,193)  (1,457)
     57,078  20,436 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Additions to property and equipment  (547)  (175) 
 Additions to other assets  (228)  (226) 
 Disposal of other assets  –   80 
 Acquisition of bonds  (41,496)  (16,082) 
 Disposal of bonds  19,385  18,015 
 Disposal of investments in public companies  779  – 
     (22,107)  1,612
Net change in cash  2,562  (1,071) 
Cash, beginning of year  16  1,087
Cash, end of year  $ 2,578 $ 16
See note 12 for supplemental cash flow information.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

1. OrganizatiOn and business activities
The Company, incorporated under Part 1A of the québec Companies Act, discovers or acquires novel therapeutic products for development  
and commercialization. These products target unmet medical needs in financially attractive specialty markets. The most advanced program 
is tesamorelin (TH9507), now in a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial in HIv-associated lipodystrophy, a serious metabolic syndrome.  
The Company also has other compounds at earlier stages of development.

2. changes in accOunting pOlicies
Effective with the commencement of its 2007 fiscal year, the Company adopted the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered  
Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1530, Comprehensive Income, CICA Handbook Section 3251, Equity, CICA Handbook 
Section 3855, Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, CICA Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments - Disclosure 
and Presentation, and CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. These new Handbook Sections provide comprehensive requirements  
for the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, as well as standards on when and how hedge accounting may be applied.

CICA Handbook Section 1530 also establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income. Comprehensive income 
is defined as the change in equity from transactions and other events from non-owner sources. “Other comprehensive income” refers 
to items recognized in comprehensive income but that are excluded from net income calculated in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A new financial statement has been presented in relation to the new standards.

Under Handbook Section 3855, all financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held-for-trading, held-
to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, 
including derivatives, are included on the consolidated balance sheet and are measured at fair market value, with the exception of loans  
and receivables, investments held-to-maturity and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement  
and recognition of changes in fair value of financial instruments depend on their initial classification. Held-for-trading financial investments  
are measured at fair value and all gains and losses are included in net income in the period in which they arise. Available-for-sale financial 
instruments are measured at fair value with revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive income until the assets are 
removed from the balance sheet.

The standards also require derivative instruments to be recorded as either assets or liabilities measured at their fair value unless exempted  
from derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale. Certain derivatives embedded in other contracts must also be measured at 
fair value. All changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met, which 
requires that a company must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting. 

As a result of the adoption of these standards, the Company has classified its bonds and investments in public companies as available-
for-sale financial assets and they are now measured at fair market value. Previously, these investments were recorded at the lower of 
cost and fair market value. On December 1, 2006, the impact of $79 of these changes in accounting policies is included in the opening 
balance of accumulated other comprehensive income. 

The adoption of standards of Sections 3251, 3861 and 3855 has no impact on the financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2007.
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3. significant accOunting pOlicies
a. cOnsOlidatiOn and investments

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

b. cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are restricted to investments that are readily convertible into cash, having a term to maturity not exceeding three 
months and whose value is not likely to change significantly. As at November 30, 2007 and 2006, there were no cash equivalents.

c. bOnds
On November 30, 2007, bonds that are classified in current assets based on their maturity date are stated at fair market value. Bonds 
that are classified in long-term assets are also stated at fair market value. These investments, which are made with institutions having  
a high credit rating, are readily convertible into cash.

d. prOperty and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the following methods and annual rates:

   Asset Method  Rate/period
   Computer equipment Declining balance 50% 
   Laboratory equipment  Declining balance 20% 
    and straight-line 5 years 
   Office equipment and furniture Declining balance 20%  
   Leasehold improvements Straight-line Term of lease

e. Other assets
Other assets consist namely of intellectual property, patent costs and research supplies.

Intellectual property is amortized over a period of 20 years.

Patent costs relate to direct costs incurred in connection with securing the patent and do not necessarily reflect their present or future  
value and the amount ultimately recoverable is dependent upon the successful commercialization of the related products. Amortization  
of patent costs is calculated over their estimated useful lives, varying from 5 to 17 years, using the straight-line method.

Research supplies are purchased in advance in accordance with regulatory requirements to be used in connection with the Company’s  
clinical trials. Research supplies that are not expected to be used within one year from the date of the balance sheet are classified 
as long-term.

f. impairment Of lOng-lived assets
The Company reviews its property and equipment and other long-term assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured 
by the comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from 
the assets. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount  
by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The fair value against which the asset is measured may 
be established based on comparable information or transactions, or any other method of assessment.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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3. significant accOunting pOlicies (cOntinued)
g. revenue recOgnitiOn

Revenues from research contracts are recognized when services to be provided are rendered and all conditions under the terms of 
the underlying agreement are met. Revenues subject to the achievement of milestones are recorded only when the specified events 
have occurred and collectibility is assured.

Upfront payments and initial technology access fees are deferred and recognized as revenue on a systematic basis over the period 
during which the related products or services are delivered and all obligations are performed.

License fees are recorded when conditions and events under the license agreement have occurred and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Revenues from a collaboration agreement that includes multiple elements are considered to be a revenue arrangement with multiple 
deliverables. Under this type of arrangement, the identification of separate units of accounting is required and revenue is allocated 
among the separate units based on their relative fair values. Payments received under the collaboration agreement may include upfront  
payments, milestone payments, research contracts, license fees and royalties. Revenues for each unit of accounting are recorded 
as described above. 

Interest income is recognized as earned.

h. research and develOpment
Research expenditures, net of related research tax credits and grants, are charged to earnings in the year in which they are incurred. 
Development expenditures, net of tax credits, if any, are capitalized when they meet the appropriate criteria for capitalization in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. During the years ended November 30, 2007 and 2006, no development 
expenditures were capitalized.

i. stOck-based cOmpensatiOn and Other stOck-based payments
The Company records stock-based compensation related to employee and non-employee stock options granted using the fair value 
based method estimated using the Black-Scholes model. Under this method, compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date  
of grant and is expensed over the award’s vesting period.

J. gOvernment assistance
government assistance, consisting of research tax credits and grants, is recorded as a reduction of the related expense or cost of the 
asset acquired. government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the requirements  
of the approved grant program. Research tax credits are recorded when there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

k. fOreign exchange
Foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated in Canadian dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance  
sheet dates. Other assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates prevailing when the assets were acquired or the liabilities  
incurred. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the year, except for depreciation and 
amortization which are translated at the same rates as those used in the translation of the corresponding assets. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses are included in the determination of net earnings or net loss.
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3. significant accOunting pOlicies (cOntinued)
l. incOme taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized  
in the balance sheet to account for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the respective accounting  
and taxable value of balance sheet assets and liabilities. As appropriate, a valuation allowance is recognized to decrease the value  
of tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Future income tax assets and income tax liabilities are measured  
using income tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. The effect  
of changes in income tax rates is recognized in the year during which these rates change.

m. guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various agreements that may contain features that meet the definition 
of a guarantee. A guarantee is defined to be a contract (including an indemnity) that contingently requires the Company to make 
payments to a third party based on (i) changes in an underlying interest rate, foreign exchange rate, equity or commodity instrument, 
index or other variable that is related to an asset, a liability or an equity security of the guaranteed party, (ii) failure of another party  
to perform under an obligating agreement, or (iii) failure of another party to pay its indebtedness when due.

A liability is recorded when the Company considers probable that a payment relating to a guarantee has to be made to the other 
party of the contract or agreement, or for financial guarantee contracts that provide for payments to be made in response to changes  
in an underlying.

n. earnings per share
The earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year.

The treasury stock method is used for the computation of the diluted earnings per share. Under this method, a number of additional 
shares, if they are dilutive, are calculated assuming that the outstanding stock options and warrants are exercised, and that the proceeds  
from the transactions are used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period.

O. use Of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities  
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant 
areas requiring the use of management estimates include estimating the useful lives of long-lived assets, including property and 
equipment and other assets, estimating accruals for clinical trial expenses, estimating stock-based compensation and revenue,  
as well as assessing the recoverability of research tax credits and grants, investments and future income taxes. Reported amounts 
and note disclosure reflect the overall economic conditions that are most likely to occur and anticipated measures to be taken by 
management. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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4. prOperty and equipment
        
     2007
    Accumulated 
    depreciation Net book 
   Cost and amortization value
 Computer equipment $ 645 $ 415 $ 230 
 Laboratory equipment  1,756  1,314  442 
 Office equipment and furniture  989  624  365 
 Leasehold improvements  1,840  1,155  685
   $ 5,230 $ 3,508 $ 1,722

        2006
    Accumulated 
    depreciation Net book 
   Cost and amortization value
 Computer equipment $ 511 $ 424 $ 87 
 Laboratory equipment  1,573  1,168  405 
 Office equipment and furniture  833  563  270 
 Leasehold improvements  1,724  906  818
   $ 4,641 $ 3,061 $ 1,580

5. Other assets
     2007
    Accumulated Net book 
   Cost  amortization value
 Intellectual property $ 7,670 $ 2,713 $ 4,957 
 Patent costs  1,993  1,052  941 
 Research supplies  1,524  –   1,524 
 Other assets  50  –   50
   $ 11,237 $ 3,765 $ 7,472

        2006
    Accumulated Net book 
   Cost  amortization value
 Intellectual property $ 7,670 $ 2,327 $ 5,343 
 Patent costs  1,737  876  861 
 Research supplies  3,152  –   3,152 
 Other assets  75  –   75
   $ 12,634 $ 3,203 $ 9,431
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6. capital stOck
     2007  2006
  Authorized in unlimited number and without par value: 
   Common shares 
   Preferred shares issuable in one or more series 
 
  Issued: 
   54,531,133 common shares (46,775,359 - 2006) $ 238,842 $ 177,552

2007
During the first quarter of 2007, the Company concluded a public offering for the sale and issue of 6,875,000 common shares, including 
the over-allotment option, for proceeds of $57,750. The issuance costs amounted to $3,188.

In 2007, the Company also issued 13,074 common shares to employees for a consideration of $129, in connection with its share 
purchase plan.

2006
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company concluded a public offering for the sale and issue of 11,192,500 common shares, including  
the over-allotment option, for proceeds of $21,825. Share issue costs amounted to $1,462.

The Company also issued 29,874 common shares to employees for a consideration of $68.

All shares were issued for cash consideration.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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6. capital stOck (cOntinued)
a. stOck OptiOn plan

The Company has established a stock option plan under which it can grant to its directors, officers, employees, researchers and 
consultants non-transferable options for the purchase of common shares. The exercise date of an option may not be later than  
10 years after the date it is granted. A maximum number of 5,000,000 (3,500,000 - 2006) options can be granted under the plan. 
generally, the options vest at the date of the grant or over a period of 0 to 5 years. On November 30, 2007, 1,822,667 additional 
options can be granted by the Company.

Changes in the number of options outstanding during the past two fiscal years were as follows:
      Weighted average 
      exercise price 
     Options per share
   Options as at November 30, 2005  2,300,664 $ 5.50 
   granted  840,000  1.69 
   Cancelled  (234,664)  6.70 
   Expired  (355,000)  4.60
   Options as at November 30, 2006  2,551,000  4.26 
   granted  608,500  9.41 
   Exercised  (867,700)  2.76 
   Cancelled  (84,167)  2.80
   Options as at November 30, 2007  2,207,633 $ 6.32

Between December 1, 2007 and January 18, 2008, 32,332 options were exercised at a weighted average price of $4.19 per share 
for a cash consideration of $135.

The following table provides stock option information as at November 30, 2007:

     Options outstanding Exercisable options
         Weighted  Weighted    Weighted 
       Number of  average  average  Number of  average 
       options  remaining  exercise  exercisable  exercise 
   Price range    outstanding  life (years)  price  options  price
 $ 1.20 - $ 2.00    688,174  8.01 $ 1.62  348,994 $ 1.71 
  2.01 -   2.75    141,459  6.85  2.59  139,791  2.59 
  2.76 -   3.75    80,000  3.23  3.71  80,000  3.71 
  3.76 -   4.60    25,000  0.66  4.20  25,000  4.20 
  4.61 -   6.00    83,500  2.65  5.24  83,500  5.24 
  6.01 -   9.00    563,000  7.54  8.16  513,000  8.15 
  9.01 -  13.50    570,000  6.30  10.84  335,000  10.56 
  13.51 -   15.30    56,500  3.24  15.16  56,500  15.16
       2,207,633  6.79 $ 6.32  1,581,785 $ 6.56
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6. capital stOck (cOntinued)
b. stOck-based cOmpensatiOn and Other stOck-based payments

The estimated fair value of the options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
the following weighted average assumptions:

     2007  2006
   Risk-free interest rate  4.22%  4.08% 
   volatility  68.7%  49.8% 
   Average option life in years  6  6 
   Dividend yield  nil  nil

The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a Canadian Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the 
expected term of the option. The volatility is based solely on historical volatility equal to the expected term of the option. The average 
life of the options is estimated considering the vesting period, the term of the option and historical exercise patterns. Dividend yield 
was excluded from the calculation, since it is the present policy of the Company to retain all earnings to finance operations and 
future growth.

The following table summarizes the weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the years ended November 30, 2007 
and 2006:

     Weighted average 
    Number  grant-date 
    of options fair value
   2007  608,500 $ 6.10 
   2006  840,000  0.88

The Black-Scholes model, used by the Company to calculate option values, as well as other accepted option valuation models, was  
developed to estimate the fair value of freely tradable, fully transferable options without vesting restrictions, which significantly differs  
from the Company’s stock option awards. These models also require four highly subjective assumptions, including future stock price  
volatility and expected time until exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values.

c. Warrants
During the year ended November 30, 2006, 1,080,000 warrants expired at the exercise price of $17.30. On November 30, 2007 
and 2006, no warrants were outstanding.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6. capital stOck (cOntinued)
d. diluted lOss per share

Diluted loss per share was not presented as the effect of options and warrants would have been anti-dilutive. Furthermore, the exercise  
of 251,500 (2006 - 1,036,000) options and warrants would not have been considered in such computation since their exercise prices  
were higher than the average market price during 2007 and 2006.

7. rOyalties, technOlOgies and Other
On September 26, 2007, the Company signed a licensing agreement whereby OctoPlus N.v. (“OctoPlus”) acquired the exclusive 
worldwide rights for the development and commercialization of its Glucagon-like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) program: a portfolio of analogues for 
the treatment of diabetes and other potential indications. OctoPlus’ proprietary drug delivery technology in the area of controlled release  
will be combined with the Company’s gLP-1 compounds to produce a product candidate that may reduce the required dosing frequency 
in diabetes therapy.

The Company received 200,000 OctoPlus stock options upon signature of the agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the 
agreement, OctoPlus will make milestone payments to the Company of up to €36 million (approximately CA$53 million), based on 
development, clinical phases and commercialization. Royalties on the annual net sales of any products developed and commercialized 
under the agreement could also be paid to the Company. OctoPlus will be responsible for all future development costs for gLP-1 
portfolio compounds.

As the Company has no service obligations under the agreement, the fair value of $619 of the options received upon signature of the 
agreement has been recorded as revenue by the Company. The options have a contractual life of 10 years and are exercisable at the 
average market price of OctoPlus’ shares for the 10 days preceding the date of the agreement. The options granted by OctoPlus have 
been classified as available-for-sale financial assets and are measured at the fair market value. The estimated fair value of the options 
granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

    November 30, September 26, 
    2007 2007
  Risk-free interest rate  3.8%  4.29% 
  volatility  41.91%  38.75% 
  Option life in years  9.8  10 
  Dividend yield  nil  nil
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8. future incOme taxes
Details of the components of income taxes are as follows:

     2007  2006
  Net loss before income taxes $ (37,588) $ (25,861)
  Basic income tax rate  32.0%  31.7%
  Computed income tax provision  (12,028)  (8,197) 
 
  Adjustments to income tax provision resulting from: 
   Impact of decrease in federal tax rates: 
    Decrease in value of future tax assets  926  –  
    Change in valuation allowance  (926)  –  
   Unrecorded potential tax benefit of current year losses and other deductions  10,075  7,891 
   Non-deductible items and others  1,953  306
    $ –  $ – 

The tax incidence of temporary differences resulting in significant portions of future income tax assets is as follows:

     2007  2006
  Future income tax assets: 
   Losses carried forward $ 11,434 $ 7,828 
   Unused research and development expenses  30,976  25,124 
   Property and equipment  709  482 
   Share issue costs  1,127  517 
   Available deductions and other  10,475  11,554
     54,721  45,505 
  Future income tax liabilities: 
   Intellectual property  (1,333)  (1,266)
     53,388  44,239 
  Less valuation allowance  (53,388)  (44,239)
  Net future income tax asset $ –  $ – 

In estimating the realization of future income tax assets, management considers whether a portion or all future tax assets are more likely 
than not to be realized. Realization of future tax assets is subject to the generation of future taxable income.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
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8. future incOme taxes (cOntinued)
As at November 30, 2007, the Company had available the following deductions, losses and credits:

     Federal  Provincial
  Research and development expenses, without time limitation $ 91,154 $ 118,589
 
  Losses carried forward, until: 
   2009 $ 5,718 $ 3,741 
   2010  10,593  10,447 
   2014  9,603  8,442 
   2015  275  153 
   2027  12,333  12,283
    $ 38,522 $ 35,066

  Unused tax credits expiring in: 
   2008 $ 611   
   2009  446  
   2010  737  
   2011  1,572  
   2012  1,975  
   2013  1,570  
   2014  1,597  
   2015  1,863  
   2026  2,178  
   2027  4,157 
    $ 16,706  

     Federal  Provincial
  Share issue costs $ 3,663 $ 3,663 
  Tax value of intellectual property less than carrying value  (4,957)  (4,957) 
  Excess of tax value of property and equipment over carrying value  2,390  2,242 
  Other  17,091  17,091

9. cOmmitments
a. rental Of premises

The Company rents premises under operating leases expiring in April 2010. The minimum payments required under the terms of the 
lease are as follows:

   2008   $ 807 
   2009    816 
   2010    340
      $ 1,963
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 9. cOmmitments (cOntinued)
a. rental Of premises (cOntinued)

The Company has issued an irrevocable letter of credit amounting to $505 ($561 - 2006), along with a first rank movable mortgage, 
which can be subordinated with regard to lending institutions, of $1,150 covering the Company’s tangible assets located in the rented 
premises. This contract comprises progressive reduction clauses with respect to the amount of the letter of credit beginning in 2004 
and an option for the purchase of the building and land.

As at November 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company has recorded no liability with respect to these guarantees, as the Company does 
not expect to make any payments for the aforementioned items. Management has determined that the fair value of the non-contingent 
obligations requiring performance under the guarantees in the event that specified triggering events or conditions occur approximates 
the cost of obtaining the standby letters of credit.

b. credit facility
The Company has a credit facility available in the amount of $1,800, bearing interest at prime plus 0.50% and secured by bonds. Under  
the credit facility, the market value of investments held should always be equivalent to 150% of advances. If the market value falls below  
$7,000, the Company will agree to give the bank a first rank movable hypothec of $1,850 on securities judged satisfactory by the bank. 

As at November 30, 2007 and 2006, with the exception of the letters of credit mentioned in (a) above, the credit facility available  
to the Company was not utilized.

10. licenses
In addition to the exclusively held products, notably tesamorelin and THg213.29, the Company has certain exclusive licenses to market or 
commercialize intellectual property from research activities performed by certain research institutions. Under these licenses, the Company 
is committed to pay royalties on the net sales of the products commercialized by the Company, or, if applicable, on the amounts received 
from sub-license, subject to the application of the clauses of such agreements.

11. financial instruments
a. fair values, credit and interest rate risk

The Company has determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, accounts receivable, 
tax credits and grants receivable as well as accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair value because of the relatively 
short periods to maturity of these instruments.

The fair market value of the bonds amounts to $57,790 as at November 30, 2007 ($35,467 - 2006). The fair value of investments  
in public companies amount to $635 as at November 30, 2007 ($1,112 - 2006).

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to perform according to the terms of 
the contract. The Company regularly monitors the credit risk exposure and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of these exposures 
from resulting in actual loss.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of bonds. 
The Company has investment policies that ensure the safety and preservation of principal and that ensure the Company’s liquidity 
needs are met.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 YEARS ENDED NOvEMBER 30, 2007 AND 2006 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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11. financial instruments (cOntinued)
a. fair values, credit and interest rate risk (cOntinued)

Bonds are comprised of fixed income instruments from municipal and paragovernmental bodies as well as from companies with a high 
credit rating (not less than BBB+). The weighted average effective interest rate of the bonds is approximately 4.10%. Long-term bonds 
mature as follows: $13,016 in 2009, $5,352 in 2010, $8,722 in 2011 and $3,234 in 2012.

b. fOreign currency
The Company has financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The Company does not use derivative financial 
instruments to reduce its foreign exchange exposure. general and administrative expenses include a loss on exchange of $598 for 
the year ended November 30, 2007 (gain of $111 in 2006).

12. supplemental infOrmatiOn
a. statement Of cash flOWs

The following transactions were conducted by the Company and did not impact cash flows:

     2007  2006
   Additions to property and equipment included in accounts payable  
    and accrued liabilities $ 147 $ 2 
   Additions to other assets included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  64  36 
   Share issue costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  –   5

b.  The Company has reclassified in net earnings $84 of realized losses on available-for-sale financial assets previously recorded  
in accumulated other comprehensive income. The realized gains include a gain of $537 on disposal of the investment in Sonomed Inc.  
(formerly Andromed Inc.). In 2007, the Company received $628 as a result of the redemption of the Sonomed shares held by the  
Company. In 2007, the Company also disposed of its remaining shares in Thallion Pharmaceutical Inc. (formerly Ecopia BioSciences Inc.) 
 for $151 and realized a loss of $594.

c.  The Company received tax credits of $2,144 in 2007 (nil - 2006).

d. The following items were included in the determination of the Company’s net loss: 

     2007  2006
   Depreciation of property and equipment $ 550 $ 569 
   Amortization of other assets  562  476

13. subsequent event
On February 13, 2008, the Company completed a public offering for the sale and issuance of 3,500,000 common shares, for a cash 
consideration of $29,750,000. Share issue costs are estimated at $1,938,000 resulting in net proceeds of $27,812,000. The Company 
has also granted the underwriters an over-allotment option for the sale and issue of 350,000 additional shares at an issue price of $8.50 
per share, exercisable for a period of 30 days from closing.
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